

Ezafus

Exploring Political Imaginations of Indian Diaspora in Netherlands In the context of Indian media, CAA and Modi's politics

A Research Paper presented by:

Nafeesa Usman India

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for obtaining the degree of MASTER OF ARTS IN DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

Major:

Social Justice Perspectives (SJP)

Specialization:

Conflict and Peace Studies

Members of the Examining Committee:

Dr. Shyamika Jayasundara-Smits Dr. Sreerekha Mullasserry Sathiamma

> The Hague, The Netherlands December 2020

Disclaimer:

This document represents part of the author's study programme while at the International Institute of Social Studies. The views stated therein are those of the author and not necessarily those of the Institute.

Inquiries:

International Institute of Social Studies P.O. Box 29776 2502 LT The Hague The Netherlands

t: +31 70 426 0460 e: info@iss.nl w: www.iss.nl

fb: http://www.facebook.com/iss.nl

twitter: @issnl

Location:

Kortenaerkade 12 2518 AX The Hague The Netherlands

Acknowledgments

This research paper would not have been possible without the support of many individuals. I would like to thank all my research participants who took out time during these difficult times to share their experiences and thoughts. I would like to thank Dr. Shyamika Jayasundara-Smits, my supervisor, for her valuable comments, and unwavering support. I also thank my second reader, Dr. Sreerekha Sathiamma for her insightful comments. I am grateful for my friends here at ISS and back home for being by my side during difficult times, for constantly having my back and encouraging me to get it done. I am grateful for all the amazing people I met at ISS and for this great learning opportunity. And finally, to my sisters, who made this opportunity possible. Thank you.

Contents

List of Appendices		1
List of Acronyms		ν
Abstract		vi
Chapter 1 Introduction	1	
1.1 Research Problem Statement	1	
1.2 Research Questions	2	
Chapter 2 Contextual Background	4	
2.1 Citizenship Amendment Act	4	
2.2 Media role in Nationalist Identity construction at Home	5	
2.3 Identity Construction in the Diaspora and role of Media	8	
2.4 Background of Indian Diaspora in Netherlands	9	
2.5 Justification for the Study	10	
Chapter 3 Methodology	11	
3.1 Qualitative Approach	11	
3.2 Sampling and Data Collection	11	
3.3 Positionality	12	
3.4 Scope and Limitations	13	
Chapter 4 Analytical Framework	14	
4.1 Conceptualising the Framework: Media – Culture – Political imagination of Dia	ıspora	
	14	
4.2 Representation Theory	14	
4.3 Power-Knowledge	15	
4.4 Tools for Analysis	15	
Chapter 5 Media Events and Political Identities	17	
5.1 Media Reporting of CAA	17	
5.2 Media Events and Political identity construction of the Indian Diaspora	18	
Chapter 6 Political Imaginations	21	
Chapter 7 Political Engagement: From apolitical to activism	26	
7.1 Discussion and Conclusion	28	
Appendices		30
References		31

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 Interview Guide

30

List of Acronyms

BJP Bharatiya Janata Party

CAA Citizenship Amendment Act
INC Indian National Congress Party
NPR National Population Register
NRC National Register of Citizens

NRI Non-Resident Indian
OCI Overseas Citizen of India
PIO Person of Indian Origin

RSS Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh

VHP Vishva Hindu Parishad

Abstract

In this study I have attempted to explore the role of news media in shaping the political imagination of the Indian diaspora in relation to home country politics. This paper uses qualitative data obtained from seven in-depth interviews to answer how the recent political events in India, under Prime Minister Narendra Modi's regime, in particular the Citizenship Amendment Act (CAA) reported by the mainstream news media, shape the political imagination of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands. This study uses a theoretical approach of Stuart Hall's representation theory and Michel Foucault's power relations to answer the research question. The research findings show that the contested images offered by the media reporting of anti-CAA protests create contesting ethnonationalist identities. The Indian diaspora in the Netherlands interpret the media images of political events as "rational" individuals who situate themselves in contrast to the "irrational" other who are manipulated by the media. The research also shows that pragmatic agendas like development, global Indian image appeal more than normative values like human rights, minority rights, etc. There is also a disenchantment with the Indian media, where the diaspora relies on the social networks such as family to create and sustain their imagination of the homeland. The implications of these are also discussed in the ways political engagement is enacted within the diaspora.

Relevance to Development Studies

Diasporas make significant economic, sociocultural and political contribution to their homeland. Inherent to this process is the idea of belonging and identity. Identities in relation to homeland and host country are constructed through a process of inclusion and exclusion which are rooted in historical and socio-political conditions. Studying diasporas is relevant to development studies, in this sense, to understand identities that are deterritoralised from nation-state yet are understood within this framework. Secondly, in today's media saturated world, diasporic identities are created and sustained by communication networks. Nations can reach out to their overseas citizens to mobilise them through media technologies; new forms of political identities are constructed through social media. Social associations around ethnicity and religion are formed through formal and informal communication channels with families, friends, and transnational organisations. This study will contribute to this understanding of how diaspora's political identities are shaped by media reporting of political events.

Keywords

Media, Indian Diaspora in the Netherlands, Citizenship Amendment Act, Hindutva, Modi

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Research Problem Statement

In December 2019, the Indian media was taken by storm by massive protests that broke out across the country protesting against the Citizenship Amendment Act (CAA), a citizenship bill passed by the ruling Bharatiya Janta Party (BJP). The bill amended the Citizenship Act of 1955 by allowing migrants from neighbouring countries to gain Indian citizenship based on their religion, ostensibly excluding Muslims (Rao 2020; Nigam 2020). In contemporary India, high profile political events have taken up central stage in media since Narendra Modi's rise to power in 2014. Just months before the implementation of CAA, the Supreme Court of India gave its verdict on the controversial Babri Masjid case. In August 2019, Jammu and Kashmir's special status as a state was revoked, demoting it from a state to union territory, and placing the state under a communication lockdown (Goel and Gettleman 2020). Students from leading liberal universities of the country have been repeatedly targeted by the police and groups affiliated to BJP. The anti-CAA protests which began in December, too, ended in a bloodbath of communal violence as Delhi riots in February 2020. These are some of the examples of the political events under the Modi government which unfolded on traditional and social media, where outrageous claims were made, misleading video footages were circulated and no questions were asked to hold the government or its institutions accountable (Sahay 2020; Kumar 2019).

The implications of these mediated political events are discernible in the Indian society. Dissenters and non-conformist of the regime, have become the seditious "anti-nationals" while on the other hand, the supporters, have become "Modi bhakts" (Rao 2018; Sinha 2017). These new identities in contemporary India, are contested not only on traditional media platforms, but on social media and communication media such as Whatsapp, Twitter, Facebook.

This contemporary media-society relationship, was aptly utilised by Prime Minister Narendra Modi and his BJP party during their electoral campaign in 2014 to sell the dream of modern India where "good times" will be brought by Modi (Kaur 2015). Modi and his government continue to effectively wield the media both traditional (through curbing dissenters) and digital (through online Hindutva volunteers) to discredit and delegitimise dissent and further their agenda.

The implications of these developments are far reaching, as 28 million Indians live outside the territorial borders accounting for the largest diaspora (Sahoo 2018). For instance, for the first time ever in contemporary Indian politics, Modi and BJP party were successful in mobilising large-scale diaspora support through new leverages offered by social media (Hegde 2018; Roy and Chakravartty 2015). In an attempt to further consolidate his power, Modi, since his electoral victory has made several foreign trips and addressed large Indian gatherings in countries with broad diaspora base like USA, UK and Australia. His addresses have encouraged Indian diaspora to invest in the new modern India proclaiming them as "ambassadors of India" (Palit 2019; Hegde 2018). Ethnic identity and collective relation to the homeland are important in holding diaspora communities together (Sahoo 2018). In case of Indian diaspora, several studies have noted the rise of Hindu nationalist sentiments. This can be attributed to reasons such as; multicultural host societies where Indian diaspora mobilise around religious identity conflating it with national identity (Kurien 2004; Rajagopal 2001); the years of grassroots work carried out by BJP's ideological parent Rashtriya

Swayamsevak Sangh (RSS) and its transnational organisation Vishwa Hindu Parishad (VHP) or the World Hindu Council among the diaspora communities, most notably in the USA (Rajagopal 2001); the modern communication technologies which have changed the ways individuals perceive themselves and articulate their identities. However, these processes have to be understood in the larger historical socio-political context such as contemporary migration patterns, network societies, the post-colonial Indian nation building struggle between secularism and religious nationalism, social structural issues such as caste and class, and neo-liberal regime. The overlapping interaction of each of these factors have witnessed rise in ethnonationalist identity politics among the Indian diaspora in USA and UK.

Studies on Indian diaspora and the role of homeland politics in their identity construction has predominantly focused on the role of religious organisations in communities in the USA and UK (Reddy 2011; Kurien 2004; Rajagopal 2001). While some studies have focused on the media's role it has pertained to social media, Bollywood and restricted to UK and USA (Webb 2020; Zavos 2015; Therwath 2012) where the Indian diaspora is of significant size. There is relatively less literature on smaller Indian diasporas in Europe and elsewhere. Secondly, media reporting has been relatively less studied in conjunction with constructing India diasporic identities.

To address this gap, in this research I will focus on the role of media reporting of the recent controversial political events in India, especially CAA, in shaping the political imagination of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands. The Indian Diaspora in the Netherlands is a new and emerging diaspora with a population of 32,682 in 2016. This number has grown significantly since the 1990s as the demand for highly skilled migrants increased globally (Krik et al. 2017). The highly skilled migrant category is the fastest growing population of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands, who are first generation migrants mostly of age group 25 and 35 (ibid). When the anti-CAA protests broke out in India, the Indian community in the Netherlands mobilised to hold multiple demonstrations in the Hague and Amsterdam condemning the discriminatory bill and police brutality against peaceful student protestors. The mobilisation effects also reflected on the European Parliament deciding to hold a vote on a joint resolution against CAA. These occurrences need to be studied in a wider context to understand how the political imagination of the individuals in the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands is shaped by the political events in India. What role does media play in this imagination by re-presenting the reality of these events? How do the transnational networks especially with their families back home, facilitated by media, add to the identity construction? How do the underlying power relations of class, caste, gender, age, profession, mutually shape the diasporic identities in this context? What are the ideological messages in the media reporting of political events under the BJP regime and how do the Indian diaspora in Netherlands make sense of these? And how are these diasporic identities enacted? These questions, guide my research process and motivation. To this end, I will be guided by the research questions I have listed below.

1.2 Research Questions

How does the media reporting of recent political events in India under Modi's regime, particularly CAA, shape the political imagination of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands?

I will answer the main question by answering three sub questions:

1)How does the media reporting of CAA shape the political identity construction of the Indian Diaspora in NL?

- 2) How does the political social cultural related content used by media reporting of the recent political events enable discursive construction of diasporas political imagination in relation to home country?
- 3) What does this mean for the political engagement of the Indian Diaspora in NL with home country politics?

Chapter 2 Contextual Background

2.1 Citizenship Amendment Act

On December 12, 2019, the Indian government passed the controversial Citizenship Amendment Act in the Indian Parliament which revised the eligibility to Indian citizenship for illegal migrants from neighbouring countries belonging to the religious groups of Hindus, Sikhs, Christians, Parsi, Buddhists, and Jains. According to the act, if the minorities of these religious backgrounds from Pakistan, Afghanistan and Bangladesh had entered the country by or before 31st of December 2014, fearing religious prosecution in their country, they are considered eligible for Indian citizenship. The CAA intentionally excluded the Muslim migrants from the neighbouring South Asian countries. This has many repercussions. Not only will the Muslim migrants in India become illegal, they will be excluded from applying for the citizenship despite having proper documents. The CAA amended the Citizenship Act of 1955, by scrapping the provision of applying for Indian citizenship after completing five years of residency irrespective of the religious affiliation. Just months before the CAA, in August 2019, the National Register for Citizens (NRC) in Assam was updated, where around 2 million people were listed as "illegal" failing to provide proper documentation to prove their citizenship. The NRC combined with CAA will ensure that the undocumented citizens who are excluded by NRC can apply for citizenship through CAA, however, the Muslims will remain excluded (Chapparban 2020).

Right after this, protests broke out across the country protesting against CAA and NRC. The largest of these was at Shaheen Bagh, a neighbourhood in Delhi, were Muslim women gathered on December 16 to conduct sit-in peaceful protest, condemning CAA, NRC, and the police brutality against the students of Jamia Millia University that had taken place a day ago (Nigam 2020).



Image 1 Women Protesting at Shaheen Bagh

In the days that followed, brutality against anti-CAA and NRC protestors ensued, more protestors joined in from various parts of the country, but Shaheen Bagh protests emerged as the focal point of media coverage due to its scale, creativity and tenacity (ibid). The CAA a blatant action by the ruling BIP party, was seen as an unabashed declaration of Hindu Nation were Muslims are excluded as the "illegitimate" "other". The Shaheen Bagh protest went on for more than 100 days. In this time, it gathered a large media coverage. The right wing Indian mainstream media called the protests "violent" (Fayan and Amin 2020). Prime time debates on these media channels claimed the protests to be "paid by Congress" and framed protestors as "Pakistan supporting anti-nationals" (Amish and Tiwari 2020; Pande 2020). On the other hand, the liberal media wrote "Women, Homemakers lead protests against CAA" (Kumar 2019) focusing on the hijab wearing Muslim women who led the protests at Shaheen Bagh. The international media like New York Times wrote "India erupts in protests as Modi presses vision for Hindu Nation" (DH 2019). Contested images of the protests were presented by the traditional and social media, while the government claimed "Indians have nothing to worry" (*The Hindu* 2019). In response of this, the Indian community in Europe, North America etc joined in with demonstrations demanding the Indian government to scrape the CAA (Gatade 2020).

Such highly mediated political events in India, where Muslims and minorities are constructed as the "other" (love jihad, cow vigilantes)1, where masculine nationalism (Kashmir lockdown, Uri surgical strike)² is celebrated have become common in recent times since Narendra Modi's rise to power in 2014. However, these current developments have to be understood within the historical, socio-political context.

2.2 Media role in Nationalist Identity construction at Home

Highly mediated political events are not new to BJP. BJP captured the political imagination of the Indians in 1992 by instigating the demolition of Babri Masjid in Ayodhya by a Hindu mob. The Babri Masjid in Ayodhya was claimed by BJP and its ideological parent RSS and VHP as the birthplace of Ram where supposedly a Ram temple was demolished by the Mughals in the 16th century to build a mosque (Ludden 1996). Arvind Rajagopal (2001) in his seminal book "Politics after Television" notes that in the 1980s Ramayana, a Hindu epic, was televised as a series in the government run broadcast channel called DD National. His argument is that, this televised series entered the everyday imaginations of the Indian public and installed imagery of distinguished Hindu civilization, which was appropriated by the BJP to mobilize Hindu nationalist sympathizers.

The Ramjanmabhoomi (Lord Ram's birthplace) movement was covered contrastingly by the national English-speaking media and the vernacular regional media, which Rajagopal (2002) calls "split publics". Farmer (1996) notes, how the Hindi media, fabricated images of riots, misappropriated information during the riots to create mass hysteria and communal hatred. This horrifying event, telecasted by television media, incited riots in cities across the country and signaled BJP's fascist bent that paralleled Germany and Italy (Sarkar 1993 cited in Reddy 2011)

¹ Love jihad is a conspiracy floated by Hindu organisations which claims that Muslim men target Hindu women for conversion to Islam through marriage. Cow-vigilante are Hindu mobs who attack Muslims for consumption of cow which is considered sacred to Hindus

² The BJP government in August 2019 placed the entire state of Kashmir under communication lockdown claiming security reasons. In 2016, surgical strikes were carried out by Indian army at the India-Pakistan border to kill the militants. The government and Indian media popularised this event as a great victory to India.

Central to the claim to Babri Masjid was made on the grounds of Hindu rashtra, a hindu nation that belongs to the Hindus, whereas Muslims and other minorities like Christians have no place in this nationalist identity (Sarkar 1996). A quick recap to the genealogy of this idea is required here. The term Hindutva was first coined by V.D. Savarkar in his political manifesto Hindutva: Who is a Hindu? in 1923, where he defined Hindutva based on territory and common race. According to him anyone belonging to the Sindh region, whose ancestors were from the region, was a Hindu by territory. Secondly, he believed, a common civilization that of Hindu culture equates to nationhood (Bhatt and Mukta 2000; Sarkar 1996). In 1925 inspired by Savarkar's writings, Hedgewar founded Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh (RSS) a volunteer organization aimed at building Hindu nation through grassroots volunteer work, surrounding Hindu ceremonies and rituals to educate the public of the glorious past of the Hindu civilization. It wasn't until under the leadership of M.S Golwalkar, a Hindutva ideologue that RSS reoriented itself as a religious organization which looked at the minorities as a threat to Hindu nation and Hindu identity (Rajagopal 2001). In 1948, the assassination of Mahatma Gandhi by Nathuram Godse a RSS associate led to the banning of RSS in India, however, in 1949 the ban was lifted following RSS swearing allegiance to the Constitution of India, and the Indian National Flag (Banaji 2018). In the subsequent years, under the leadership of Golwalker, RSS branched out into several Shakas (branches) and affiliated organisations, such as Vishwa Hindu Parishad (VHP) or the World Hindu Council which together are called Sangh-Parivar.

A significant turn of events, during the Babri Masjid was the economic liberalization. With, economic liberalization, came the arrival of satellite televisions and dismantling of State's control over broadcast. New television and print media houses were established, as new consumer products flooded the market, so did the advertisements (Chaudhri 2010). Though the neo-liberalisation was rolled out in the 1990s by then ruling party Congress, BJP made free market reforms central to its party mandate. This appealed to several groups within the Indian society, who had been victims to unequal growth in the post-independence India. Particularly, the caste and class-based groups. The rural and the middle class saw themselves as victims of unequal development under the Congress rule, they saw the promise of free market without losing their cultural, caste, and class-based identity in BJP's positioning. Caste, a social hierarchical system particular to India and Hinduism, arranges groups of individuals in a social order by maintaining endogamy. In Indian society, the caste groups finding themselves in lower rungs suffer exclusion and ostracization in day-to-day practices. The neo-liberalisation combined with Hindu nationalism, appealed to the lower caste groups, as a means to improving their standing in the society through Hinduization. On the other hand, the upper caste Hindus found it appealing on the basis of maintaining their caste dominance (Rajagopal 2001). Thus religious nationalism, that is India belonging to Hindus found purchase among diverse groups which were concerned with their own social positioning.

This political imagination of India belonging to a particular group of people, namely Hindus and the emergence of religious nationalism, has its roots in colonial history. The British colonisers instilled colonial codes of identities to bring together diverse communities and classes. The post-colonial nation building project adopted these identities to address to a nation of diverse language and regional culture. In this process, religious identity evolved as the meta identity to bring together a range of identities (Rajagopal 2016). This was further solidified during the India-Pakistan partition in 1947 where the partition happened based on religion. The congress party which led the nation after its independence adopted a secular nation ideology which promised equality to all religion. However, in the 1980s the Congress Party is known to have demonstrated religious nationalism by appealing to the majority Hindus (Kinnvall and Svensson 2010).

As the neoliberalisation brought in independent media and influx of capital, a new "Indian middle class" emerged (Fernandes 2004; Chaudhuri. 2010). Fernandes (2004) argues, the modern means of communication, through advertisements, print magazines, and television programs created aspiring middle class as the new "new rich". The media representation she argues depict a new relationship between national and global, transforming the relationship of the Indian urban public with the world economy (ibid). In this market-oriented media sphere the Indian traditional media defended the "unbridled market' while attacking the idea of "interventionist welfare state" (Chaudhuri 2010). However, during BJP's rule in 1996, the government took a different approach. While celebrating free market and consumerism in their economic reforms, the government tried to oppose the consumerism by using the rhetoric of culture. Fernandes (2004) notes several instances of censorship of movies and selective global culture slogans like "computer chip not potato chip" etc, indicating the idea of preserving the heritage while embracing modernity. Another instance of media role in effective nationalist identity construction, is the case of Pokhran II, a series of nuclear bomb tests carried out during Prime Minister Vaipavee's BJP rule in 1998. Manchanda (2002) argues that influential elite media presented a unified case of nuclear bomb necessary for "country's pride" while sidelining several peace rallies that opposed the testing. In the following years, other such events such as Kargil War, Gujarat Riots, Manchanda (2002) argues led to minority communities such as Muslims and Christians being perceived as "others" and demonizing them in the process of building a "militarized Hindu nationalist public sphere" (Manchanda 2002:320).

The Present

In the above section I have briefly discussed the national identity construction and the significant role BJP, India media, and neoliberal reforms played in the process. The emergence of Prime Minister Narendra Modi in 2014, utilized these past strategies by combining the tools offered by new communication technologies. The 2014 election, was the first election in modern post-colonial India which was determined by an unprecedent use of media technologies both traditional and new (Kaul 2017). Modi constructed an image of himself as the "vikas purush (development man)" who promised "acche din (good times)" to the middle and rural class of Indian society. Modi positioned himself as the common man who sold tea at railway stations and made his name in politics through hard work, a calculated positioning against his opposition the Indian National Congress Party (INCP) which had a popular reputation of conducting elitist family-based politics (Srivatsava 2015). Before becoming the prime ministerial candidate, Modi was the chief minister of the Gujarat state. In 2002, communal riots broke out between Hindus and Muslims in Gujarat under his rule. While Modi was accused of instigating the violence and taking no actions to stop the riots, he was never proven guilty. However, from the instigator of communal violence, he rose as the astute pro-development politician who made 'Gujarat model' possible. The state's alleged growth and development called "Gujarat Model" attributed to Modi's astuteness as a politician and it became a determinant in deciding the national elections in 2014 (Jaffrelot 2015).

Modi's emergence as a single powerful political icon was carefully orchestrated by his political campaign. His political campaign presented powerful masculine image of Modi, who is techsavy, against political corruption, and focused on infrastructure development, consciously distancing from religious rhetoric which had tainted his image since the Gujarat communal riots in 2002 (Leidig 2020). Another interesting aspect was the Modi's political campaign also addressed the Indian diaspora at an unprecedented scale. Twitter and Facebook groups run by volunteers popped up, mobilizing the diaspora on online platforms. While a huge support from the NRI groups to the BJP, a few pockets of resistance to his communal politics was

also observed (Palit 2019). The Indians who make up most of the Indian diaspora population, are affluent upper-class, upper-caste Hindus who believed Indian politics under Congress was corrupt, and saw a chance of change with Modi and his development agenda. By promising unfettered access to Indian cultural identity, and investments, without having to compromise on religious identity, Modi offered the diaspora an ideology they couldn't resist (Hegde 2018; Kaul 2017).

2.3 Identity Construction in the Diaspora and role of Media

In the above section I discussed the identity construction at home, here I will discuss the identity construction in the Diaspora and the role of Media.

Indian migration has a long history. Migration has been noted since the time of indentured labourers of colonised India who were taken to countries such as Fiji, South Africa, Surinam by the British. The second wave of migration was noted after independence and during the 1990s post neo-liberalisation. Most of them were upper-caste upper class Hindus, who migrated as aspirational migrants to gain higher education or as tech professionals predominantly to USA and UK. The recent wave of this migration is the new wave where Indians have migrated to more than 200 countries. At present, according to the Ministry of Overseas affair 25 million Indians are accounted as Diaspora (Sahoo 2018).

However, only in the 1980s did the Indian government formally acknowledged the Indian diaspora. Today, the Indian diaspora have access to India legally through statuses such as Non Resident of India (NRI), Overseas Citizen of India (OCI) and Person of Indian Origin(PIO). The diaspora because of its significant size and economic status, sends substantial remittances, investment and funding to organisations (Kirk and Bal 2019). The noticeable support for Hindu nationalist politics among the Indian diaspora is not a new phenomenon. It could be attributed to many reasons. Scholars like Kurien (2004) and Rajagopal (2001) have noted that in multiculturalist society like USA, race becomes an important marker for identity. The highly-skilled professionals who bring with them class and caste privileges find themselves suddenly as racialised minorities. In this case, they prefer identifying themselves by their religious identity where Hindu identity is conflated with national identity. Secondly, activities carried out by religious organisation namely VHP such as organising summer camps, fundraising and so on has been successful in capturing the imagination of the Indian diaspora for the Hindutva cause. Also, as social media has reduced the distance between homeland and diaspora, individuals in the diaspora can experience the events in India in real time. This has allowed for online political engagement where the main contestations are between Hindu nationalist identities and secular Indian identities (Webb 2020). In UK, Zavos (2015) writes, that the mobilisation of Hindu nationalist organisations happens through a web of social relations, using the "landscape of friendship and business association".

However, the identities within an Indian diaspora cannot be homogenised. As Ashutosh (2019) has argued in his ethnographic study that "the global Indian is a divisive figure", where internal contestations over language, religion, ideology etc challenge the idea of single national identity. While the diaspora's identity construction in relation to India and BJP has been recorded by a large scholarship, there is a lack of literature which enquires the relationship between Indian media and its impact on diaspora's identity construction.

2.4 Background of Indian Diaspora in Netherlands

In the above sections I discussed the India diaspora profile and the role of media and Hindu nationalist ideas in creating diasporic identities. In this section, I will present a profile of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands and discuss existing literature.

In Netherlands, Indian diaspora is a relatively new and emerging diaspora. It is becoming a popular destination to migrate. One of the main reasons for this can be attributed to the introduction of the Knowledge migrant visa in 2004 which gives special visa allowances to migrants from India who can be classified as specialized technical laborers who hold expertise in the fields of relevance to the Netherlands, which are technology, consultancy and engineering (Kirk et al. 2017; Bailey 2017). In 2011, the total Indian population living in Netherlands was 21, 729 out of which 15164 were first generation Indians. (Bal 2012). Following the knowledge migrant visa, the flow of the migrants to the Netherlands increased considerably leading to up to 30,000 applications for this visa till 2011 (Bailey 2017). As of 2016, 32,682 Indians were recorded, who were mostly of age group 24-35 and 86% were male (Kirk et al. 2017). The number of fast-growing IT companies in Amsterdam region; higher education facilities in Netherlands, have also contributed to the migration of Indians to NL

Netherlands also has a large Surinamese community, who though originated from India, differentiate themselves from as Hindustanis. However, most of their social practices, including Hindu rituals, weddings, festivals are similar to Indian culture. (Bal 2012). Swamy (2018) in her ethnographic research on Surinamese community notes that there could be 100,000 and 215,000 Hindus in the Netherlands out of which 80% are Surinamese. In her study conducted in the summer camp organised by the RSS and Hindu volunteer branch in Netherlands (HSS) she argues that groups protect the Hindu identity through contestations, either against the "racialised and culturalised regimes of citizenship in the Netherlands" or through maintaining the status quo with the Dutch citizenship (ibid).

There are several organisations in NL which target Indian diaspora. Such as Foundation for Critical choice for India (FCCI), Indian Expat Society (IES), Amsterdam Indian Desk, and Global Organisation of People of India Origin (GOPIO) which organise various cultural and social events. On social media, many such groups and pages can be found started by Indians for sharing practical information like visa matters, housing issues, naturalisation process, events, Indian businesses and so on. During the anti-CAA protest, a Facebook invite called India against CAA – the Hague was made to mobilise support. More such posters about protest in Amsterdam, Hague was widely circulated on Facebook and Twitter. In some of these Facebook groups, bickering and arguments over political events in India, including CAA can also be witnessed.

Research on the Indian diaspora in Netherlands is not expansive. Most studies are focused on the lived experiences of the migrants in terms of acculturation, and migrant practices. For instance, Kou et al. (2015) in their study claim that migration process of these highly skilled migrants are interdependent on their family and social networks and are culturally conditioned. Krik et al. (2017) show how their research participants, highly skilled migrants from affluent class and caste backgrounds are stuck between what they perceived and expected out of western culture and their own "beliefs about Indian culture". They also show, how these migrants are transnationally connected with their families back home through regular communication and travel. Kirk and Bal (2019) in their study addressing flexible citizenship show that most of these highly skilled Indian migrants take up Dutch citizenship for practical purposes like opportunities for children, and travel. However, economic political situation in India, family and financial matters contribute to this decision making. Secondly, the recent migrants have limited contact with the Dutch society and prefer

to "engage with social groups that cultivate ethno-cultural, linguistic, regional, religious and national identities" (ibid:8). In their study, the informants felt they can be Dutch for practical purposes but emotional about Indian identity. However, giving up voting rights or full political participation does not seem to have an influence. The scholarship on the Indians in Netherlands is limited. One such area is the media practices of the Indian diaspora in Netherlands and its role in producing and sustaining identities and imagination in relation to India. I hope this research can contribute to this gap.

2.5 Justification for the Study

This research is focused on media's role in shaping the political imaginations of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands. Given the rise of populist governments in not only India but globally, this study finds itself situated in the larger geo-political context.

When the anti-CAA protests broke out in Europe and in the Netherlands, the European Parliament was facing a vote on a joint resolution against the controversial citizenship law. However, the voting was deferred as an attempt to not interfere in the internal matters of the country and to not jeopardize Narendra Modi's visit to Brussels for the EU summit which was scheduled in March and was postponed due to Covid19 (*The Week* 2020). Recently the Indian-EU summit web conference took place in July 2020 where EU and India renewed their agreements on trade and investment. Several areas of cooperation were discussed ranging from technology to mobility to cultural relationships. While CAA was brought up in the summit, the EU council president said he trusts the Indian institutions taking a diplomatic route (Haidar 2020). These growing relationship between India and EU, makes it relevant to study an Indian diaspora in Europe.

Secondly, much of the literature on the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands focuses on their migration, assimilation and acculturation. In a media saturated society, which creates diverse transnational networks of flows, its role in identity construction among Indian diaspora in NL is not sufficiently explored.

Chapter 3 Methodology

3.1 Qualitative Approach

In this research, I have adopted a qualitative approach where the main methods of data collection used are semi-structured interviews and participant observation. A qualitative approach best suits my research objective to understand how political identity construction happens discursively through media images. As O'leary (2017: 272) puts it semi structure can be used to "explore and understand the interactions, processes, lived experiences and belief systems that are part of individuals, institutions, cultural groups and even the everyday" (O'leary 2017:272).

In a qualitative study there are three kinds of data collection a) in-depth interviews where people's feelings, opinions, experiences are obtained through direct quotes b) participant observation where people's behaviours, actions, and interactions are captured and c) textual documents where data is collected from official records, publications and reports. (Patton 2002:4). In this research, I have used participant narratives gathered through in-depth interviews as the main data. I have supported it with participant observation, which gives insights into complexities of everyday interpersonal interactions of my participation. I will also be relying on the existing literature, and my own observation of the Indian media reporting of CAA. As I was part of the anti-CAA protests, during the months of December 2019 and January 2020, I was actively involved in following the developments around the protests, by reading news article, social media forwards and watching Youtube news channels.

3.2 Sampling and Data Collection

Conducting fieldwork during the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic was challenging, in terms of recruiting participants, sampling, and conducting interviews. Therefore, I decided to use "insider assistance" in recruiting participants (King et.al 2019: 60). This is also due to the reason that I was interviewing a group (the Indian Diaspora in the Netherlands) I wasn't directly part of. I acknowledge that sometimes insider assistance can have a larger influence on selecting participants, who have a particular viewpoint. To balance this, I reached out to two of my friends and colleagues at ISS who are part of the social circles of Indian diaspora. By briefing them thoroughly about my study I was able to ensure to get access to their diverse contacts with no overt bias (King et.al 2019:60). Additionally, I sent a brief about my research to be forwarded in their social circles through WhatsApp following which I directly contacted the interested individuals to discuss my study in detail and get their oral consent for participation. Given the Covid19 constraints on accessing participants, I tried to use a simple sampling criterion. My sampling was based on considerable years of living in the Netherlands, socio-economic status especially in terms of their employment in the Netherlands (as I was focusing on highly-skilled migrants), and self-identification as Indian. I didn't have a gender criteria: 6 men and 1 woman participated in my study. This is also indicative of the disproportionate gender distribution of the Indian diaspora in NL. My participants were of age group between 25 and 40. Out of the 7, 5 are single and 2 are married. 6 of them are employed as highly skilled Indian migrants and are in different stages of obtaining permanent resident card and Dutch citizenship. 1 one of them is a half-Indian and holds a German citizenship. Their average period of stay in the Netherlands is 10 years.

During the month of August, I conducted in-depth semi structured interviews with seven participants. Due to the Covid19 restrictions, I was able conduct face-to-face interviews with three participants, and with the other four I carried out the interviews through online voice and video call using WhatsApp and Zoom. As I had a relatively smaller sample size, I had multiple follow-up conversations with my participants over phone to explore more on the topics of discussion. While building rapport over online calls was a challenge, I exchanged a number of texts before the interview call to break the ice and make my online participants comfortable. But as Deakin and Wakefield (2014) note online interviews also reconfigure the notions of rapport and interactions between the researcher and the research participants. This is true in my case, as video and voice calls made conversation flow freely and with less hesitation over sensitive topics.

My interview guide was focused on topics such as media practices, opinions and perspectives of my participants about CAA and anti-CAA protests, their communication channels with their family, topics of discussion and contentions within family and social networks, their opinions and experiences with Hindutva in the diaspora, and their lived experiences as migrants in the Netherlands (See Appendix 1). I recorded extensive fieldnotes after each interview and transcribed the interviews which majorly took place in English. I also noted my feelings and reactions during the interview process which allowed me to reflect on my own positionality.

3.3 Positionality

In qualitative research "subjectivity of the researcher and of those being studied becomes part of the research process" (Flick 2009:16). It demands researchers to examine their positionality in relation to their research which has a certain influence on the whole research process. My positionality is that of a middle-class, Indian Muslim woman who is privileged to pursue masters from a reputed foreign university. While I saw myself as a middle-class woman in India, by having the resources to travel to Netherlands to pursue higher education shows the privileged of mobility I have. Personally, coming from a Muslim family, I have experienced the pervasiveness of Hindutva ideology in everyday conversations with my family and friends. Particularly when media content becomes basis for beliefs and arguments. This is also a reason why I pursued this research. My beliefs to some extent are also shaped by my experience working in the development sector in India. I believe in secular values where freedom of expression and religion is equal for everyone. This reflection on where I come from and what I believe in is important as it accomplishes the "need to locate ourselves in our work and to reflect on how our location influences the questions we ask, how we conduct our research and how we write our research" (England 1994:87 cited in Crossa 2012:112). According to Crossa (2012), positionality is not a matter of how we interact with our participants in the field but also a question of how we access the literature, choose our research topic, and our theoretical lens.

By engaging with post-structuralist literature, my positionality is apparent in how I perceive identities. I agree with the approach of analysing identities as socially constructed, and contingent upon the power relations. My engagement with the literature on Indian diaspora, media, and Hindutva have also been influenced by this approach where I reject ideas of cause and effect phenomenon. Also, as a Muslim woman interviewing predominantly Hindu, male participants I acknowledge the discussions and conversations, and the subsequent knowledge produced is in relational to me. I could feel the insider-outsider tension during my interview process where, being an Indian I had a common bond to share like educational qualification, class, Indian etc. however I was also an outsider in understanding their lived experiences as diaspora in the Netherlands and experiences as religious majority in India.

3.4 Scope and Limitations

One of the limitations of the study could be the relatively small size. I have tried to overcome the limitation by broadening the topics of discussion and by having multiple conversations. Due to the Covid19 pandemic, most of my participants had new relationships with media, like following news regularly to check on Covid19 developments, or avoiding media due to the overload of same. This to certain extent has an influence on the responses I received. In terms of scope, social media practices particularly online engagement with Indian politics, online activities of Hindu organisations in NL to mobilise the diaspora can be interesting to enquire in this context.

Chapter 4 Analytical Framework

4.1 Conceptualising the Framework: Media – Culture – Political imagination of Diaspora

The theoretical approaches proposed in this section will be used to understand how media reporting of recent political events in India shape the political imagination of Indian Diaspora in the Netherlands. Both the representation theory and power/knowledge theory inform us that identity construction is part of a culture, and is done through production of meaning at different sites. Media is one of the sites. Different forms of media produce and circulate meanings which are then negotiated, contested, or reproduced at other sites such as consumption. However, we need frames of interpretation to exchange meanings. Here a system of representation which combines concepts and language is used. The representation used by media does not operate in void, they are symptomatic of the culture and sociohistoric specific power relations (Hall 1997).

Meanings in a culture are produced and exchanged through identities. It is how we see ourselves belonging to a certain group while rejecting other identities. This always happens in relational to the 'other' and can never be fixed. The power/knowledge or the regime of truth tell us what is being considered as normal and abnormal. It delineates the norms and practices. This implies that the identities we choose to associate with also governs our behaviour and everyday practices (Hall 1997; Foucault cited in Hall 1997).

In terms of diaspora, there everyday practices including media practices can tell us about their connection with their home country. Diaspora is a contested term to define (Adamson 2016; Wagner 2012; Adamson and Demetriou 2007). Literature has predominantly focused on formation of diaspora identities, their internal mobilisations, and their political engagement with both the home and host country politics in specific contexts (Banaji 2018; Adamson and Demetriou 2007; Sokefeld 2006). However, for the scope of my research, I chose to engage with the term 'Diasporic' proposed by Wagner (2012) and Brubaker (2005). The diasporic activities are concerned with diasporic practices "that can be big and small, habitual and sporadic...could be enacted through cultural production, political involvement, memory, business, language use or return" (Wagner 2012: 5). For my research, this understanding of diaspora contextualises how my research participants practice their identities in their day-to-day life in Netherlands, and imagine themselves in relation to the political events happening in India through their media practices. This can reveal what factors enable the diasporic individuals to sympathise actively or passively with a collective cause and to what extent (Wagner 2012; Brubaker 2005).

4.2 Representation Theory

According to Stuart Hall (1997) representation means to represent the world meaningfully to other people. We do this through a "system of representation" which is we carry individual concepts of objects and things along with different ways of organising, clustering, arranging, and classifying these concepts. Language is the second system of representation which allows us to "establish complex relations between the concepts" (Hall 1997:17). Meaning is produced when people or groups with same conceptual framework communicate through

their "shared codes" (Hall 1997:25). The systems of representation produces meaning through language by establishing similarities and differences most prevalently binary oppositions like white/black, man/women to establish membership to certain categories. In a constructivist approach the social power relations determine which identities we identify with and which ones we reject. This way identity becomes central to representation. Central to a constructivist approach is that idea that meanings are not fixed but are rather constructed by us. This does not imply that a material world doesn't exist, only that meanings are constructed by a system of social practices. This implies that meanings can never be fixed and that "all meanings produced are produced within history and culture" (Hall 1997:32).

If meanings are not fixed, then the reality portrayed by the media is only a mere "representation" of events. However, what is unique to Hall's understanding of media representation is the importance he gives to the underlying power relations. This implies that ideologies are not imposed by the government or the ruling classes on the people through media. Rather shifts the locus of power from institutional power as the only and central locus of power to its myriad sites of contestation from production to consumption (ibid).

4.3 Power-Knowledge

According to Foucault, power is not to be imagined as negative or repressive or top-down. Power in Foucauldian sense is productive, and is found is all spheres of social life from private sphere of family to public sphere of politics, and is "everywhere" and "comes from everywhere" (Foucault 1998:63 cites in Gaventa 2003).

For my particular research, power/knowledge becomes constitutive of media representation. Power produces "forms of knowledge" where he claims each society has its "regimes of truth" that are reinforced through "education system, the media, and the flux of political and economic ideologies". This implies two things what we consider as truth is produced through discourses, the rules, techniques and procedures which distinguish between true and false. Secondly, there is no absolute truth rather a battle for the rules through which truth is determined (Foucault cited in Gaventa 2003).

Therefore, what we know as truth at a certain period of time is an effective application of power/knowledge strategies. Language and the production of meaning through representation, then, begs multiple questions such as , who is represented and who is not, how are they portrayed, who is the producer who is the receiver, what adverbs, attitudes and emotions are used to describe actions, what is considered as normal, natural and so on. These are reflective of our everyday practices and conducts and specific to socio-historic context (Hall 1997). Here, representation strategies are useful to analyse these questions. In this particular case, I will engage with the representation strategies of production of difference, stereotyping and framing.

4.4 Tools for Analysis

According to hall, production of difference is central to representation and he classifies their production under linguistic, cultural, social and psychic forms. In linguistics, "meanings depend on the difference between opposites" which he calls binary oppositions, for example masculine/feminine upper class/lower class etc. However, the power relations between the binary is very rarely even. There is usually one pole/group which is dominant which conversely requires the "other" to sustain its dominance. In cultural difference meaning is produced by assigning things "to different positions within a classificatory system" (Hall 1997:236). However, it is culture specific and marked by "symbolic

boundaries that keep the categories 'pure', giving cultures their unique meaning and identity" (Hall 1997:237). In social form, difference is produced through dialogue. The meanings are present and produced through our interaction which implies that meanings can never be fixed and are "always being negotiated". In the psychic form, "The argument is that the 'other' is fundamental to the constitution of the self, to us as subjects, and to sexual identity" (ibid). This implies the self is constantly being imagined in relation to the changing other. Stereotyping and essentialisation are connected to this logic of producing difference. Stereotyping reduces an identity to a set of characteristics that are simplified, like Muslim women in Indian media are often stereotyped as subservient, veiled, need to be saved from the Muslim man etc. On the other hand, essentialising, fixes the simplified characteristics as natural or inherent (ibid). For instance, white people as civilised, evolved and black people as uncivilised, primitive.

In a regime of truth, similar representational practices of 'differences' and 'otherness' can be noticed across multiple sites. These similar representational practices accumulate meanings from across different sites and can be used to interpret other images and texts in other contexts, this Hall defines as 'inter-textuality' (Hall 1997:232).

Framing according to Entman (1993) is a process "to select some aspects of a perceived reality and to make them more salient" (cited in Schwalbe 2006:269). According to Papacharissi and Fatima Oliveira (2008), frames give us the ability to interpret complex realities by emphasising or dismissing certain elements. The framing process is present in our social culture, it can be conscious and subconscious, and many frames interact to form a news frame. The frames can not only tell us "what to think" but also "how to think about it" (Schwalbe 2006).

The representation theory will be used to analyse how the media reporting shapes the political identity construction of Indian diaspora in NL. Power-relations will be used to understand how political imagination of the diaspora is discursively constructed in relation to Indian politics under Modi's regime. The conceptual framework of diaspora will be used to explore how the Indian diaspora enacts political engagement in relation to home country politics.

Chapter 5 Media Events and Political Identities

5.1 Media Reporting of CAA

Due to the limited scope of this research, I want to focus on the media reporting of the events around CAA and the anti-CAA protests between the months of December 2019 and January 2020.

Within the national media, right-wing media houses like Republic TV, Zee News, Aaj Tak, Times Now, IndiaTV were focused on delegitimising the protests calling them "violent" and "attempt to hijack democracy" (Fayaz and Amin 2020). The prime time TV debates on these channels were around the allegations that "Shaheen Bagh is a paid protest", "protestors paid by Congress" and protestors were called "Pakistan supporting anti-nationals" (Amish and Tiwari 2020; Pande 2020). These news channels also carried out several "sting operations" to discredit the movement as a people's movement, calling it "sponsored" by circulating fabricated video footages of people claiming to have been paid money to protest (Amish and Tiwari 2020).

On the other hand, the leading news dailies, Times of India, and New Indian Express, carried out headlines such as "Protests spread to more campuses; PM warns of 'vested interests" a day after the police broke into Jamia Millia University in Delhi and attacked the students (IndiaTV 2019). This was quoted from the Prime Minister Narendra Modi's series of tweets after the police action in the university. In his tweets, which was reported by several print and online newspapers, Modi said "No Indian has anything to worry regarding this Act. This Act is only for those who have faced years of persecution outside and have no other place to go except India" (*The Hindu* 2019).

The online news websites of liberal leaning carried out profile pieces on the women protesting at Shaheen Bagh. Over the days these sites covered various aspects of the Shaheen Bagh protest, such as court case against the protestors to evacuate the space, the protestors request to meet the PM, the police brutality at various protest sites across the country and so on (Venkataramakrishnan 2020).

The international media on the other hand, took a strong stance against the police brutality and CAA. For example, the CNN reported "Violent protests erupted in India over citizenship bill" showing video footage of police beating students in the JMU campus (CNN 2019). The day after this event, The Washington Post headline read "Protests over citizenship law continue grip India" with an image of the students protesting against the police in Lucknow, The New York Times using the same image wrote "India erupts in protests as Modi presses vision for Hindu Nation", The Wall Street Journal on its frontpage wrote "Muslim protests spread against India's New Citizenship Law" (Deccan Herald 2019).

Apart from these, several opinion pieces and reports calling out the authoritarian government were published online by the international media houses. For example, one New York Times editorial read "Modi Makes his Bigotry Even Clearer". Al Jazeera wrote "Indian police storm Jamia, AMU to break citizenship law protests" (Bhatia 2019; The Quint 2019).

Digital media played a key role during the anti-CAA protest. Videos of police brutality against the university students was widely circulated on social media platforms. The protestors, mainly students, took to the internet to share their experiences. Social media like Facebook and Twitter was used to send out information regarding local protests to mobilise people.

In sum, the media content produced by by all these different media sources - national³, international, user-generated created contesting representations of the protests and the protestors.

5.2 Media Events and Political identity construction of the Indian Diaspora

In this section, I will explore how the media reporting of the anti-CAA protests shape the political identity construction of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands.

According to Stuart Hall (1997) events do not have one true meaning, media re-presents the events as the reality. This implies that media images and visuals have multiple meanings, and the interaction between them and the viewer is created by social power relations.

Muslims as National

During the anti-CAA protests, media discourse was dominated by the images of Muslim women and students protesting against the discriminatory bill. While contesting claims were present in the media reporting, Muslim women were visible as the main protagonist of the protest (Ayoob 2020). For Ali, a filmmaker who has lived in the Netherlands for 10 years, the Shaheen Bagh protest was an important event. He stated: "When I saw the protests happening in India, I felt very Indian...I felt very Muslim." According to Hall (1997), identities are historically defined and not biological. Socially, Muslims are minorities in India who constitute to 14 percent of Indian population and mostly have been marginalised in accessing social, political and economic resources (Kinnvall and Svensson 2010). Since Modi government came to power in 2014, Muslims have been systematically targeted under the premise of being the "other" and not belonging to India. This narrative is deployed using selective history such as Muslims as invaders who came from outside of India, Muslims as responsible for India-Pakistan partition; hence subjected to proving their loyalty to India (ibid).

Ali's identity as a "Muslim" is constructed as a response to how the "Muslim" has been stereotyped by the majority in India, especially the media. In present times Muslims are stereotyped as "anti-national" as if being Muslim is not compatible with being Indian. This stereotype not only reduces the characteristics of a group but also homogenises them. This leads to the struggle over representation, where the dominant representation is contested or rejected. In case of Ali, he mentions how the Indian media is full of news which targets Muslims in particular as the perpetrators or the accused. He says "I think it is important to call myself a "Muslim" seeing what is happening in India, where "Muslim" has become political". So, he says, he decided to join the protests in the Netherlands, in solidarity with the Muslims protesting against CAA. But adding positive images to the stereotype, does not change the binary opposition in which the Muslims are framed in Indian media discourse, it adds diversity and increases the complexity of the group. Secondly, for Ali, the diasporic

³ There are of course hundreds of regional media houses which may have covered the protests differently. The focus is on the national and international media houses due to my research participants preference.

imagination of his homeland where he grew up, is that of a secular India where religious freedom is practiced.

Identities, according to Hall (1997) are subject to change as new identities are presented, particularly in social movements. In case of CAA too, the protestors of the anti-CAA were predominantly Muslims, they mobilised around the secular symbols of India such as Indian constitution, Gandhi, Ambedkar, Indian Flag (Puranam 2020). Ali, commenting on Shaheen Bagh says "we have never seen anything like this in history. I wanted to go to India to join the protests". This shows how new representations can create a sense of community. Ali comes from an affluent family, born to a Kashmiri-Muslim father and a German mother. According to him, seeing his father leave Kashmir due to ongoing conflict made him more aware of his identity as "Muslim" and "Kashmiri". But he is particular about his "Muslim" identity. He says "I don't follow Islam as such, for me its political".

Regional Identities as Political Identity

According to Vikram, a research professional the anti-CAA protests were not pan-India and the protestors came from particular region. He stated "We can see the kind of people who were protesting were only from a certain region and the media was focused on them, which is why it made me think it is more political than religious". Historically, the Indian media landscape is divided between national and regional media houses, where the national media house speaks on behalf of national issues while the vernacular regional media focuses on regional politics (Rajagopal 2001). For Vikram, living in Netherlands, his access to Indian news is through online news websites, which are dominated by the national media houses. As anti-CAA protests at Shaheen Bagh was large in scale and size, it attracted 24x7 media coverage which banked on sensationalizing the protest. These factors determine the visibilities and invisibilities of the protestors. Secondly, the framing of the anti-CAA protestors as predominantly Muslims, establishes cultural hierarchies between identities such Muslims, and Hindus. According to Hall (1997) production of difference/similarities is central to constructing identities. In this case, Vikram, who comes from an upper-class family from Maharashtra region, identifies himself as apolitical and atheist. The media images of hijab-clad Muslim women protesting against the citizenship bill, creates differences based on religion, political identity, and region. By perceiving the protests as "other" implies that CAA is a matter of concern for certain segments of Indian population. However, as educated individual who identifies as a liberal, he believes discrimination based on religion is wrong which creates similarities. This contestation causes ambivalence towards the anti-CAA protests as a matter of legitimate pan-national concern. The way I see it, there is contestation of national, regional and ethnic identities which are fostered by media reporting where certain protagonists are absent from the narrative.

Sathya, an engineering professional, also thought something similar. Coming from Bangalore, a city in the south of India, he perceived the anti-CAA protests as something that was happening in the north of India or particularly in Delhi. According to him, "We didn't hear much about the protests in my region. Of course, we had the protests, but people are more concerned with the local politics, they are not very worried with what is happening in the center". Sathya comes from an upper-caste Vaishnavite family, where his religious and ethnic identity is crucial to him as he puts it. In the Netherlands too, he prefers wearing his tilak a Hindu symbol of belief. Cultural differences are marked by symbolic boundaries like language. In this case, the Hindi-speaking north Indian protestors, who are visible in the media reporting are considered "other" from the "self" which is defined by language and ethnicity.

India as a Hindu nation

The mainstream media's narrative, including the speeches by PM Modi and the Home Minister Amit Shah, implied that CAA was aimed to curb the problem of illegal migrants entering the country and for providing shelter for persecuted minorities particularly Hindus fromneighbouring countries (*The Hindu* 2019). Such messages from the government implies that Muslims were considered as illegal migrant and India was considered as the land of Hindus. According to Vikram and Sathya the CAA had good intention which is giving citizenship to persecuted minorities from neighbouring countries. Sathya said "I think the intention of the government was right, but the way they carried out was wrong, and I think the media made it an issue of Hindu and Muslims".

Similarly, Vikram thought the matter of illegal citizens is of serious concern, and the government was trying to address this issue through CAA. In these instances, inter-textuality (1997) can be used to analyse how my participants made sense of the events around CAA. Inter-textuality implies reading of an image or a text in the context of others. That is, in a regime of representation, similar meanings are accumulated over a variety of texts and images. This accumulation of meaning is used as the context to make sense of current texts or images.

In this context, the perception of "illegal migrants" as a security threat is a regime of racialized Muslim found in a variety of sites. Post 9/11 securitization became a prime focus of the foreign policy agenda of Western countries mainly USA. Islamophobia is a prevalent problem across the western countries, including Netherlands, where the Muslims are considered as "outsiders" and "illegal migrants".

On the other hand, in India, there has been continued lamenting of the Hindutva organizations about Hindus as victims in India (Kinnvall 2019). In recent times, with cancellation of the special status of 370, the BJP's rhetoric claimed that Kashmiri Pundits (Hindus) who had to leave their state due to Muslim extremists can now return to their homeland. The BJP and its allies have similarly constructed an image of a victimized Hindu who was dominated by the Mughal invader and is now reclaiming his identity (ibid).

These meanings which appear over a variety of texts and images offer the context to understand the matter of CAA.

The myth of Hindu/Muslim conflict also shapes the individual belief system. For instance, Sathya thought that Hindu/Muslim conflict has been going on for decades in India and is not something that was communalized by the BJP, rather politicized. This perception of Hindu-Muslim conflict as typical to India can be attributed to the underlying social power relations in media representation practices. The media representations of the Hindu-Muslim conflict has reduced the complex nature of the conflict to primordialism, where the conflict is viewed as inherent nature of the community. While the Hindu/Muslim racial and religious differences were constructed by the orientalist project of the British coloniser, the partition of India/Pakistan attributed to this inherent difference made it substantial (Ludden 1996). This essentialisation of the Hindu/Muslim conflict as natural or inherent reduces the complexities of the problem. It also allows the stereotypes of Hindu/Muslim to be fixed. Sathya's perception of the Hindu/Muslim problem of India, is also his diasporic imagination of a homeland where he says "These things keep happening in India".

To summarise, based on my participant narratives it is evident that dominant ideology present in the media reporting of CAA is reproduced among the Indian diaspora in NL. Muslims are hyper visible in the CAA discourse in media which actively shapes the construction of self-identity. Identities such as nationality, ethnicity, religion, class interact with each other to create political identities as a response to political events in the homeland.

Chapter 6 Political Imaginations

In this section I will discuss how the social cultural and political images present in the media discursively construct the political imagination of the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands in relation to Indian politics under Modi.

Indian Media as Biased

In terms of media reporting of the recent political events, Sooraj said "I stopped actively consuming news in the last few years. The main reason is, the news only provides one perspective, either the right-wing supporting news like Republic is only supporting the current government, and on the other side, say maybe the NDTV is only criticizing the government. There is no balance. We cannot know everything from what they say in media so I don't form strong opinion (about political events)". Sooraj, comes from an upper-class north Indian Hindu family, he has lived in Netherlands for 10 years. In his opinion, over the last few years, since Modi came to power, he has drastically reduced watching Indian news, as it is full of arguments and counterarguments, with no objective truth. This sentiment was common in all my conversations. As a highly skilled professional, Sooraj values his educational qualification as something that implores him to discern truth on his own. So, he says when he comes across some political development, like CAA, he goes looking for information about it and reads up about it from both sides of the argument before he makes up a mind. In certain situations, like CAA, he decided that since there is a lot of history to be understood, making up his mind based on what the media says is foolish.

This questioning of media for its authenticity is the neoliberal rationality's way of delegating responsibility to the individual. When considering neoliberal rationality as the prevailing discourse, or regime of truth, it can be argued that, the responsibility to interpret the biased political news is transferred from the media to the individual. And an individual is not finding objective truth in the media for the greater public good but rather for their own individual rational choice. Thus, making them "rational" consumers whom the biased media production targets (Marinov 2020; Ohm 2015).

This is mirrored in the opinion of Renu, a filmmaker who identifies herself as a liberal and an activist. She stated: "For them (the media) it doesn't matter what is happening or what they should be doing. They are run by capitalist media companies which only wants to make money so they will sell any content that makes them money and in India what sells is "see a Muslim did this" or something like "Hindus are something superior. It is the trend now".

The underlying social power relations in Indian media's political economy should also be noted to understand the emergence of politically biased Indian media. The Indian media business is dominated by a handful of corporates and capitalist businesses which own multiple national and regional media houses. Since the economic liberalisation in the 1990s, the state has had little control over regulating the media ownership. The political affiliations of these media houses, Chakravartty and Roy (2015: 317) argue are "highly dynamic and contingent" and are shaped by "shifting alliances". Which means, while they are not directly controlled by the ruling party or the state, the network society of media businesses can have ranging relationships with political parties and their ideologies. Since Modi's rise to power in 2014, liberal media houses both Indian and international have experienced stringent censorship and regulation. This has mostly been in case of questioning the government, or presenting alternative facts that are against BJP's mandate (Goel and Gettleman 2020). Secondly, the private owned media companies, use sensationalised news events to receive

more ratings hence more business. Since 2014, Modi and BJP's constant presence in the public sphere has served the television ratings of media houses, which has increased the politically biased news production in Indian media landscape (Chakravartty and Roy 2015).

Renu and Sooraj, see themselves as "rational" individuals who can objectively interpret the biased news. Central to this construction of the self is the production of the other, a binary opposite. According to Renu, the political polarisation influenced by media affects only certain segments of Indian population. She said "Most people from rural India who suddenly have access to internet are exposed to all sorts of information, and when they see such news about Muslims doing this and that they believe it...also on the internet they can say whatever they want, so we have all this people supporting Modi and bickering online". The "irrational" other in this case is "rural" "angry" Indian who is not educated, emotional and cannot differentiate reality from fabrication as presented by the media. The binary opposites always have a dominant relationship, here the rational, urban individual (both Renu and Sooraj come from urban India) have a dominant position as compared to the other "irrational" who according to them are responsible for the polarisation. This also tells how the "irrational" other is expected to behave or not behave. The bickering and arguments online is a sign of the behaviour of the "irrational" while it is improper, it is also necessary to categorise them by reducing and over-simplifying the distinctions. However, this image of the "other" is not fixed and further distinctions are made. When talking about falling prey to the biased media, Sooraj talks about his own parents accessing the biased news. He said "My sister and I sometimes stress to our parents not to believe everything they read or see in the news or the internet, especially WhatsApp forwards, but their generation is newly exposed to the internet so it is difficult for them to identify what is true and what is not. We cannot blame them". In Indian cultural classificatory system, the older generation especially parents are considered to be wise and to be respected by the children and younger generation. According to this system, the irrational beliefs of his parents influenced by the news they consume is considered as not a problem of their education or class but rather of their generation.

Politics of Modi from Development to Security

Since Modi came to power in 2014 and his subsequent electoral win in 2019, several political events have taken media by storm. From demonetization and surgical strike in India-Pakistan border in 2016 to Resolution of Article 370 which stripped the special status of Kashmir and dissolved it to form a union territory; the Supreme court verdict of Babri Masjid dispute which came in favor of Hindus; and Citizenship Amendment Bill in 2019. These and many other events since 2014, has had larger implications on the democratic institutions of India. The Indian media too, has played a role in disseminating information or lack of it on these events.

When questioned about these recent mediated political events, Amish's first opinion was that of development under Modi's regime. He said "Since he came to power, there has been less corruption, his policies have been good for our economy". Coming from an upper-class Hindu Gujarati family, Amish's opinion is commonly voiced by many upper-class Indian diaspora who have benefitted from the privileges gained through class and caste positioning (Jaffrelot 2015). This image of Modi good for development has its origin primarily two places. The Indian media's complex relationship with capitalism has led to the media adopting a mandate of championing for economic development over questioning the abuse of civil and personal liberties (Chakravartty and Roy 2017). Under a neoliberal regime of truth where the Indian diaspora's economic freedom is championed, economic reforms in India are of more concern. Secondly, Modi's electoral campaign in 2014, promised the

middle-class and upper-class Indians, including the diaspora, a corruption free India where they can invest with confidence (Kaul 2017).

While these power relations interact with each other, at the micro level, families are microcosm of power relations where certain identities are inherited. For the Indian diaspora individuals' families are the primary source of information, when faced by a biased media. Indian families are close-knit hierarchical structures with gendered practices where political ideologies are transferred. Political information and knowledge in several families is also not equally distributed (Banaji and Al-Gabban 2006). In case of Amish, his regular communication with his family back home and the political information he receives is used to form certain belief system. Amish's father is a trade union leader who told him, how the traders and businessmen in cities in Gujarat claim to do business without any fear of corruption since Modi came to power. Frames are used to make sense of events by connecting information obtained from mediated communication and interpersonal communication to make "dynamic storytelling systems" (Cohen et al 2003 cited in Papacharissi and Oliveria 2008). In this case, the belief that Modi is good for the development of India is obtained through information received from media where this is one of the dominant narratives, the information obtained from family members whose opinions are valued and general perception of their own standard of living. Additionally, Amish feels his father has the political expertise to make a valid claim and so he believes him. In Indian families, often the father is the head of the family, who can make certain claims of truth, on the basis of his place in the patriarchal structure or profession. However, central to this claim, is the inclusion and exclusion. On the basis of this narrative, the development under Modi has benefitted certain segments of the population, while the minorities are invisible. Families are also closed groups where identities are inherited through establishing similarities. For Amish, his father's contentment with Modi's policies is inherited on the basis of the commonality with his family.

But there is ambivalence in Amish's opinion too. He said he heard from his father that most high court judges in some states have been transferred and replaced with people who support the government. To which he says "the congress was also once powerful like this also but this government has been taking over institutions which is a little serious." He concluded these contradictory information as "we can't complain that the entire government is bad some aspects are good".

Like Amish, Vikram also has less engagement with the Indian media especially political news, but talking about article 370 issue, he said that most of the media presented limited information regarding the issue. His father who is an army officer posted in Kashmir, tells him the point of view of the military. He said "My father was posted in Kashmir when they cancelled the special status and he tells me a different side of the story. He has lost so many soldiers to the militants and jihadists and he is saying what the government doing is good.. I tend to believe him because of course he is talking from his experience and I think its valid to believe that". Like in case of Amish, Vikram also believes his father based on his validity to make claims to truth. Talking more on this, he added that to certain extent under Modi's rule Indian military and security has grown to prominence. He said "Military strength is important I think and under Modi our military has shown their strength". According to Das (2008), in representation of a nationalist identity "a particular configuration of territorial space" is essential. In this case, India's military strength is required in response to the "other" who is either Pakistan, Bangladesh or China. This articulation is also gendered. India is imagined as "civilized" as opposed to the "uncivilized" other. While Indian nationalism has been historically masculine, Modi and his Hindutva project created a militant nationalism. Modi positioned himself as "the man with 56-inch chest" (Srivastva 2015: 334) who is capable of defending the country from terrorist and anti-national forces. This image is created against the "other" who is "hypermasculine", namely Pakistan (Kinvall 2019). The flooding of the media sphere with images and texts of aggression at the Pakistan border and the narrative of the patriotism and giving a befitting reply to the enemy has legitimized violence against those who are considered enemy of the nation. (ibid). According to Hall (1997) gender representations establishes forms of masculinity. The careful construction of Modi image, in the clothes he wears (sharp Indian suits), his "manly leadership" and his showmanship in public gatherings projected an image of masculine leader capable of leading the modern India (Srivastva 2015). This masculine representation of Modi, also enabled the perception that he is capable of representing the modern India on the global stage. As Sathya, noted "We have definitely seen a change in how India is being looked at other countries...we know how it was before, but there is a modern image now, things are becoming digital, so definitely there has been a change after Modi came to power". For the Indian diaspora in the Netherlands, cultural capital from India is crucial is for defining their self. A modern Indian image suits the aspirations of the diaspora for gaining mobility and respect in host countries.

No Opposition to Modi

In my conversations with Amish, Vikram, and Sathya, who seemed to be concerned with the ideas of development, security, and modern India, there was hesitation over discrimination of minorities and communal politics of BJP. These were largely seen as media exaggeration. But they commented that in the face of lack of opposition to Modi, accepting the current state of politics was the only way to go. Amish said "They seem to have the power now, and we don't know where the opposition is, we don't hear anything about them and they doesn't have a strong agenda". This was mirrored by Vikram too who said "What can we do? I don't know what is the future or what can be done, but we don't have any opposition that can change this order". To unpack these thoughts, first, the current Indian media landscape as discussed above is dominated by the capitalist media firms and their calculated support of right-wing politics of BJP. The BJP also dominates the social media space with their own IT cell and volunteers who make claims and counter claims to legitimatise their action and delegitimatize opposition (Udupa 2017). These power relations have led to the invisibility of the opposition on the mainstream media space. Also, the neoliberal rationality, which has emerged as the political rationality removes the individual from participating in the social sphere where questions like "What can we do?" is internalised. Secondly, as diaspora who enjoy relatively better economic and social position in Netherlands, they do not undergo the same experiences of those living in the homeland under such authoritative regimes. Plus, as upper-class upper-caste individuals their status-quo is not threatened under the current political climate. This affinity towards their social groups, as literature shows can lead to elite groups supporting exclusionary behaviour of fascist politics (Poruthiyil 2019).

To summarise, Indian media is a crucial tool is creating the imagination of homeland for the diaspora. In case of bi-partisan Indian media, contested representations of political events emerge. These representations are understood by the diaspora in terms of "rational" us and "irrational" other. In response to the collusion of neo-liberalism and authoritative politics of BJP visible in the Indian media practices, a self-regulating diaspora individual appears who is expected to discern truth and facts before making up his mind regarding Indian political situation. The disenchantment with Indian media is compensated by the strong presence of transnational social networks mainly families, where dominant narratives of Modi's policies are reproduced and sustained creating echo chambers that are stretched across transnational borders. As diaspora in Netherlands, where their identity is marked by their class and highly-skilled migrant status pragmatic ideas like development, masculine nationalism and global Indian image appeal more than normative notions of minority rights. This rationality of

individuals as self-regulating, enables the diaspora to sustain themselves in an environment of ambivalence regarding Modi and the current authoritative political climate in India.

Chapter 7 Political Engagement: From apolitical to activism

In this section, I will discuss the how the diaspora enacts their political engagement in relation to home country politics.

According to Wagner (2012) "diasporic" activities and how they are enacted can show how diasporas maintain their connection between their place of residence and the distant homeland. This idea allows us to see what "stances, projects, claims, practices" (Brubaker cited in Wagner 2012) are undertaken by the individuals in a diaspora that makes it uniquely diasporic and what motivates these actions. By doing so, we can also trace what circumstances facilitated such actions and to what extent these are enacted.

First, I want to discuss the engagement with political news media, as I consider it an important tool of political engagement, that is to stay informed on Indian politics. The lives of the diaspora individual in the Netherlands, is stretched between two homes - India and Netherlands. While India remains the homeland, their embeddedness in the Dutch society dictates the factors that enable the connection with India. In case of Basu, a banking professional who has lived in Netherlands for the last 8 years and in the process of getting his citizenship, his engagement with Indian media for political information is limited. While he does not follow the Indian politics actively, he says, he is interested in the economic news as it is his field of interest. He said "I check on the market news, see what the government is doing on that front what policies they are announcing and so on". Therefore, preference is given to media that is of personal or professional interest over politics. This is a stance widely reciprocated by the other respondents as well. In the Netherlands, the Indian highly-skilled migrants are defined by their temporary migrant status, and the knowledge capital they contribute to the economy. This is reflected among the diaspora individuals who chose to remain updated on the news relevant to their professions, such as oil market (Amish), robotics (Vikram) and so on.

Second, the popular stance adopted by the diasporic individual is that of "apolitical". For instance, Vikram claimed that he wasn't sure why I had wanted to interview him on topic related to politics, as he saw himself as someone "apolitical" who is not interested in politics or engages with it actively. This claim is repeated by Sathya, Sooraj, and Amish as well. Politically, the official channels offered to Indian diaspora to engage in Indian politics is limited. The Indian government does not offer dual citizenship to its transnational citizens. The OCI card holders can invest in India but cannot vote or have the right to run for office. The NRIs have to be registered and can vote in their respective hometowns but online voting facilities are not available therefore many do not vote (Kirk and Bal 2019). In this way, the Indian state government governs its transnational population by delineating the spaces of engagement. The diasporas are ambassadors of Indian culture but cannot easily participate in deciding the fate of the nation through democratic processes. Hence the diaspora views themselves as able to wield limited political engagement and not able to imagine alternative scenario as power to change the current scenario is seen as not within their grasp. This is reflected in Amish's comment where he says "What can we do? We are here and we visit India once a year or so and even when we do, we don't talk about politics much with our families, we are more concerned about their welfare". This can also be linked to the neoliberal rationality of the diaspora individuals in the above section. As Srivatsava (2015) notes, in India the neoliberal rationality operates taking into account the family structure of Indian

culture. While the individuals are concerned with their own lives in the Netherlands, they do so without absolving their ties and responsibilities to their families back home.

Within the diaspora, the internal mobilisation is also determined by political ideology. Amish says "We usually talk about food, festivals, and play cricket, we don't discuss politics". This view is mirrored by Sooraj and Sathya too, who are part of Indian groups where politics is deliberately avoided. This is reasoned by Sooraj as "I try to stay away from political discussion, I don't want to lose my mental peace over debates and arguments, if someone says something I usually listen but whenever I get time to hang out with my Indian friends we usually talk about our lives here not much about politics". In case of Sooraj who has lived in the Netherlands for the last 10 years, he sees himself as "individual" and not part of any Indian community. His life as he puts it revolves around his work and having a good time with his friends when he gets time, so he puts his "mental peace" first instead of engaging in public sphere activities like politics or protests. Inherent to this expression, is also the political ideology of questioning the reality presented by media discussed in the previous section. He says "There is so much I don't know. It's difficult to make up mind and take a stand".

On the other hand, there are spaces in the Netherlands for the diasporas to engage with their home country politics. In case of Renu and Ali who identify themselves as liberals, engaging with media reporting of political events is seen as important to sustain their identity. Ali commented that he follows Indian political news regularly now, since Modi came to power, as new and alarming developments keep happening. Similarly, for Renu, engaging with political news from India, keeps her updated as she sees herself as an activist. This conscious decision to involve in the politics of the homeland, is an expression of their identities when the particular identity is under threat in India. And Sokefeld (2006) argues that social movements can lead to construction of new identities within the diaspora, where mobilising around a particular identity can lead to the formation of a diaspora consciousness. Ali and Renu tell me that during the anti-CAA protests, they were actively participating in mobilising the Indians in the Netherlands, sharing the latest developments, and fundraising for the activists in India. This offers reflection to understand under what circumstances the diaspora engages in such activity and to what extent. According to both Renu and Ali, the CAA was threatening the fundamentals of the Indian constitution and seeing the images of police beating up students in universities had enraged the Indian communities living abroad including themselves. Secondly, like the protests in India, the protests in Netherlands too began organically with few groups of people getting together. This made them decide to join the protests to show solidarity with fellows Indians who are standing up against BJP's communal politics. When I questioned about what next on this front, Ali said "I don't know. Then Covid19 happened. And the government hasn't said anything about CAA but they will quietly implement it". There is a sense of time limit attached to events around CAA and the urgency it incited among the diaspora soon faded as media is taken over by other events. Ali notes this by saying "Now they are busy with corona and framing the Muslims for it, they have forgotten Shaheen Bagh".

But Ali continues to engage on social media by posting and commenting on political news. Of the 7 people I interviewed, he was the only one who used social media actively. During one of our chats, he shared his Instagram private chat messages with me where he had received messages from trollers who accuse him of being "Pakistani" and "Modi-hater". Ali, tells me he engaged with his trollers "to understand where they come from". In this case, digital media especially social media offers new forms of political participation to engage in long-distance nationalism (Webb 2020). Secondly, by engaging with his trollers, Ali engages in a dialogical process of constructing his own identity. For instance, he tells me that often people call him "Modi-hater" because he is vocal on the social media regarding his policies, and that he has to correct them by saying "I am not Modi-hater, I am just against

discrimination". He further justifies by saying that he is not against all of Modi's politics but the ones that are outright communal. Among the diaspora, this ambivalence regarding Modi and his political policies is a theme often repeated. This ambivalence and uncertainty and the varying ranges of it seems to be determinantal in shaping the political engagement of the diaspora with Indian politics.

In terms of the influence of Hindu religious organisations in the Netherlands, all of my research participants were aware of the presence of RSS affiliated organisations in the Netherlands but none of them have had direct contact with any. Ali commented that he has heard of Hindu summer camps conducted in the country, Amish said the same. My research participants form closed social groups within the diaspora based on their profession and qualification as highly skilled migrants who are in Netherlands for their self-actualisation. Social groups are formed based on regional identities, age, professional background etc, over religious identity. Unlike the literature on US and UK diaspora groups which shows mobilising around religious identities in response to racism in multicultural societies (Kurien 2004). In the Netherlands, the Indian diaspora enjoy relatively better status than other migrants. During the interviews, the participants quoted that they are usually respected and considered as "smart". While racism is not experienced in the Dutch society, integration is also not easy. Basu said even though he has got his Dutch citizenship, he has less contact with the Dutch. Similarly, Sooraj said "I have Dutch and international colleagues but it is difficult to become close friends with them". These conditions cause the Indians to form social circles that act as closed entities and less interaction is noted between the social groups. For instance, Basu said his closest social circle is that of Bengalis and he has less interaction with other Indians. These interactions when looked at from political engagement perspective, indicates that within the diaspora there are many heterogenous compositions which hinder mobilisation around a single national identity. Moreover, these composite groups act like migrant bubbles which limit the exchange of ideas and experiences which can limit political mobilisation.

7.1 Discussion and Conclusion

In this research I have attempted to understand how media reporting of recent political events in India discursively shapes the political imaginations of Indian diaspora in Netherlands. Using the narratives of seven participants I have tried to understand how media images are interpreted based on individual positioning and how the self is imagined.

In case of CAA, the dominant ideology present in the media reporting, namely contesting ideas of Indian nation, racialised Muslim is reproduced among the Indian diaspora in NL. The interaction between the media images of the anti-CAA protests and my participants show that political identities are articulated through intersection of national, ethnic, religious, and class identities. The hypervisibility of Muslim as main protagonist of the anti-CAA protests emerges in the media reporting. This is navigated by the Indian diaspora based on their religious and ethnic identities. Intertextuality is used to understand CAA in a larger meta narrative of illegal Muslim migrant and India as a nation of Hindus.

However, the interaction of the diaspora with such mediated political events is largely shaped by the overall interaction with the Indian media. The collusion of neo-liberal policies, capitalist businesses, and fascist BJP has given birth to bi-partisan media sphere with increasing censorship and regulation over content production. The social media landscape which is also effectively wielded by the BJP has resulted in contesting images and claims about Indian politics. This contested media landscape poses a challenge of discerning facts and truth from fake news which is navigated by diaspora individuals by imagining the self as "rational" as opposed to the "irrational" other who is manipulated by the media content.

This process of discerning facts from media creates disenchantment with media which is compensated by family networks.

The identities of diaspora individuals are embedded in transnational family networks. In case of changing political events in India, the individuals rely on their families to inform them on developments in the homeland. In this network, dominant ideologies such as Modi is good for development and corruption free India is sustained. As diasporas in Netherlands, the individuals are defined by their "highly-skilled" migrant status where self-actualisation becomes important. But they are dependent on their homeland to provide cultural capital and crucial identities such as nationality and ethnicity. In this framework, a global Indian image as promised by Modi becomes valuable to the diaspora. However, the media images of discrimination against the minorities such as in case of CAA creates ambivalence towards the authoritative policies of BJP. I believe, this ambivalence breeds complicity and silence among the diaspora and shapes their response to the fascist policies of the BJP government. As Kaul (2017) notes, that BJP is supported largely by middle- and upper-class Indians, and the international community who have been "bought into the idea of "Brand India". This is evident among diaspora individuals as well but remain cautious by taking a "apolitical" stance. However, as diasporas are heterogenous groups, counter narratives are also present. Diaspora activism through social media and protests are evident, however, they are realised as counter arguments to religious nationalism. As Reddy (2011) and Udupa (2017) point out the counter narratives imagined vis-à-vis Hindutva rhetoric is precisely how Hindutva discourse finds its popularity. As diaspora groups in Netherlands are highly diverse and have different migration history, studying the internal compositions and contestations can shed more light into discursive practices of long-distance nationalism.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Interview Guide

1. Background/demographic question

Name, age, occupation, citizenship status, years living in NL, Gender

Self identification - religion; Family status

2. Media

What kind of media do you consume? What interests you and why? (especially in regards to India)

What kind of social media do you use? (youtube channels etc)

Likes and dislikes about the Indian media (perceptions about Indian media)

3. CAA NRC

What were your initial and current opinions

What are the topics of discussion with family and friends

How does media affect family conversation about this topic (examples of contentions; different sources of information)

What was your participation?

Have you been participating in expressing your opinion via comments, likes on social media etc

What are the reactions received from others and back home?

How you feel about the CAA NRC, opinions on citizenship and how it affects you and your family here an back home?

Opinion about the protests in India and in NL

4. Family

How do you stay in touch with family back home? (channels and frequency)

News about home country, who consumes it, how it is discussed

WhatsApp family groups, what kind of discussions happen, type of content

Are the conversations turning contentious?

What kind of narratives or information is used in your argument/discussion with family surrounding CAA NRC

5. Hindutva

What do you think about its history, evolution, and current phase?

Do you know any organisations in NL or have you been part of such Hindutva organisations here?

What are the manifestations of such organisations in your community in the NL?

6. Integration

What kind of social circles are you part of?

On what basis do you connect with other Indians? What are the common interests and what are not?

Opinions on the Indians in the NL (how they organise, internal politics etc)

References

- Adamson, F. B. (2016) 'The growing importance of diaspora politics', *Current History* 115(784): 291–297. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/6879300406.
- Adamson, F. B. and Demetriou, M. (2007) 'Remapping the Boundaries of 'State' and 'National Identity': Incorporating Diasporas into IR Theorizing', *European Journal of International Relations* 13(4): 489–526. doi: 10.1177/1354066107083145.
- Ashutosh, I. (2019) 'On the grounds of the global Indian: Tracing the disjunctive spaces between diaspora and the nation-state', *Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space* 37(1): 41–58. doi: 10.1177/2399654418779388.
- Ayoob, M. (2020) 'Assessing the anti-CAA protests', *The Hindu* 28 January. Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/assessing-the-anti-caa-protests/article30668015.ece.
- Bailey, A. (2017) 'The migrant suitcase: Food, belonging and commensality among Indian migrants in The Netherlands', *Appetite* 110: 51-60 Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/8085241734.
- Bal, E. W. (2012) Country Report: Indian migration to the Netherlands. Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies. Available at: https://www.narcis.nl/publication/RecordID/oai:research.vu.nl:publications%2F6c6d8d7e-4c98-40d6-9e4d-2f483183d04a.
- Banaji, S. (2018) 'Vigilante Publics: Orientalism, Modernity and Hindutva Fascism in India', Javnost – The Public 25(4): 333–350. doi: 10.1080/13183222.2018.1463349.
- Banaji, S. and Al-Ghabban, A. (2006) "Neutrality Comes From Inside Us": British-Asian and Indian Perspectives on Television News after 11 September', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 32(6): 1005–1026. doi: 10.1080/13691830600761495.
- Bhatia, A. (2019) 'India Erupts: Here's How International Media Covered The Protests Against CAA', *Scoopwhoop* 16 December. Available at: https://www.scoopwhoop.com/news/how-the-international-media-covered-the-protests-against-citizenship-amendment-act/.
- Bhatt, C. and Mukta, P. (2000) 'Hindutva in the West: mapping the antinomies of diaspora nationalism', *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 23(3): 407–441. doi: 10.1080/014198700328935.
- Bhattacharya, G. (2008) 'The Indian Diaspora in Transnational Context: Social Relations and Cultural Identities of Immigrants to New York City', *Journal of Intercultural Studies* 29(1): 65–80. doi: 10.1080/07256860701759949.
- Brubaker, R. (2005) 'The "diaspora" diaspora', Ethnic and Racial Studies 28(1): 1–19. doi: 10.1080/0141987042000289997.
- Chakravartty, P. and Roy, S. (2017) 'Mediatized populisms: Inter-Asian lineages: Introduction', International Journal of Communication 11: 4073–4092. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/7761677034.
- Chakravartty, P. and Roy, S. (2015) 'Mr. Modi Goes to Delhi: Mediated Populism and the 2014 Indian Elections', *Television & New Media* 16(4): 311–322. doi: 10.1177/1527476415573957.
- Chapparban, S. N. (2020) 'Religious Identity and Politics of Citizenship in South Asia: A Reflection on Refugees and Migrants in India', *Development* 63(1): 52–59. doi: 10.1057/s41301-020-00247-z.
- Chaudhuri, M. (2010) 'Indian media and its transformed public', *Contributions to Indian Sociology* 44(1–2): 57–78. doi: 10.1177/006996671004400204.
- CNN (2019) 'Violent protests erupt in India over Citizenship Bill' Available at: https://edition.cnn.com/videos/world/2019/12/18/violent-protests-in-india-over-controversial-citizenship-law-lc-lon-orig.cnn

- Crossa, V. (2012) 'Relational positionality: Conceptualizing research, power, and the everyday politics of neoliberalization in Mexico city', *ACME* 11(1): 110–132. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/809079461.
- Das, R. (2008) 'Nation, Gender and Representations of (in)securities in Indian Politics', European Journal of Women's Studies 15(3): 203–221
- Deakin, H. and Wakefield, K. (2014) 'Skype interviewing: reflections of two PhD researchers', *Qualitative Research* 14(5), pp. 603–616. doi: 10.1177/1468794113488126.
- Deccan Herald (2019) 'How foreign media covered anti-CAA protests in India' 19 Dec Available at:https://www.deccanherald.com/national/how-foreign-media-covered-anti-caa-protests-in-india-786945.html
- 'Demonstrators protest in Shaheen Bagh against the new citizenship law' (Image) Accessed 22 November 2020 https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/asia/shaheen-bagh-protest-india-delhi-modi-citizenship-muslim-law-baby-death-a9318976.html
- Farmer, L. V. (1996) 'Mass Media: Images, Mobilization, and Communalism' in Ludden, D. E. (eds) *Contesting the nation : religion, community, and the politics of democracy in India.* pp. 98-118. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press
- Fayaz, O. and Amin, R. (2020) 'How Rightwing Media Outlets' Obsession with Shaheen Bagh Led to False Reporting', *The Wire* 11 March. Available at: https://thewire.in/media/rightwing-media-channels-shaheen-bagh.
- Fernandes, L. (2004) 'The politics of forgetting: Class politics, state power and the restructuring of urban space in India', *Urban Studies* 41(12): 2415–2430. doi: 10.1080/00420980412331297609.
- Flick, U. (2009) An introduction to qualitative research. Los Angeles: Sage Publications
- Gatade, S. (2020) Statement issued by 'Netherlands against CAA' (Citizenship Amendment Act). Available at: https://kafila.online/2020/01/01/statement-issued-by-netherlands-against-caa-citizenship-amendment-act/.
- Gaventa, J. (2003) Foucault: power is everywhere. Available at: https://www.powercube.net/other-forms-of-power/foucault-power-is-everywhere/ (Accessed: 24 October 2019).
- Goel, V. and Gettleman, J. (2020) 'Under Modi, India's Press Is Not So Free Anymore', *New York Times* 6 April. Available at: https://search.proquest.com/docview/2397913182.
- Haidar, S. (2020) 'India and EU push trade talks; discuss China, Pakistan and the coronavirus pandemic', *The Hindu* 15 July. Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/india-and-eu-push-trade-talks-discuss-china-pakistan-and-the-coronavirus-pandemic/article32092238.ece
- Hall, S. (1997) Representation: cultural representations and signifying practices. London: Sage
- Hegde, R. S. (2018) 'Renewing diasporic bonds and the global branding of India' in R. S. and Sahoo, A. K. (eds) Routledge handbook of the Indian diaspora, pp. 269-281. London and New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- India TV (2019) 'How major Indian newspapers reacted to nationwide anti-CAA protests', 17 December. Available at: https://www.indiatvnews.com/news/india/anti-caa-protests-indian-newspaper-reactions-jamia-mamata-nrc-protest-571913.
- Jaffrelot, C. (2015) 'What "Gujarat Model"?-Growth without Development-and with Socio-Political Polarisation', *South Asia: Journal of South Asian Studies* 38(4): 820–838. doi: 10.1080/00856401.2015.1087456.
- Kaul, N. (2017) 'Rise of the Political Right in India: Hindutva-Development Mix, Modi Myth, and Dualities.', *Journal of Labour & Society* 20(4). Available at:https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/7259446517.
- Kaur, R. (2015) 'Good Times, Brought to You by Brand Modi', *Television & New Media* 16(4), pp. 323–330. doi: 10.1177/1527476415575492.

- Kaur, R. (2019) Family Matters in India: A Sociological Understanding. Singapore: Springer Singapore: Springer (Understanding Social Dynamics in South Asia: Essays in Memory of Ramkrishna Mukherjee), pp. 147–159. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-0387-6_9.
- King, N., Horrocks, C. and Brooks, J. (2019) *Interviews in qualitative research*. Los Angeles: Sage Publications
- Kinnvall, C. (2019) 'Populism, ontological insecurity and Hindutva: Modi and the masculinization of Indian politics', *Cambridge Review of International Affairs* 32(3): 283-302. doi: 10.1080/09557571.2019.1588851
- Kinnvall, C. and Svensson, T. (2010) 'Hindu Nationalism, Diaspora Politics and Nation-Building in India', *Australian Journal of International Affairs* 64(3): 274–292.
- Kirk, K. and Bal, E. (2019) 'Stimulating Flexible Citizenship: The Impact of Dutch and Indian Migration Policies on the Lives of Highly Skilled Indian Migrants in the Netherlands', *Journal of Citizenship and Globalisation Studies* 3(1): 1-13. doi: 10.2478/jcgs-2019-0008.
- Kirk, K., Bal, E. and Janssen, S. R. (2017) 'Migrants in liminal time and space: an exploration of the experiences of highly skilled Indian bachelors in Amsterdam', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 43(16): 2771–2787. doi: 10.1080/1369183X.2017.1314600.
- Kõu, A. et al. (2015) 'A Life Course Approach to High-skilled Migration: Lived Experiences of Indians in the Netherlands', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 41(10): 1644–1663. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/6892905302.
- Kumar, A. (2011) 'Mass Media and Muslims in India: Representation or Subversion', *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs* 31(1): 59–77. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/713861685.
- Kumar, R. (2019) 'India's Media Can't Speak Truth to Power', Foreign Policy 2 August. Available at: https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/08/02/indias-media-cant-speak-truth-to-power-modibip-journalism/.
- Kurien, P. (2004) 'Multiculturalism, Immigrant Religion, and Diasporic Nationalism: The Development of an American Hinduism', *Social Problems* 51(3), pp. 362–385. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/5258157781.
- Leidig, E. (2020) 'Hindutva As a Variant of Right-Wing Extremism', *Patterns of Prejudice*, 54(3): 215–237. doi: 10.1080/0031322X.2020.1759861.
- Ludden, D. (1996) 'Introduction. Ayodhya: A Window on the World', in Ludden, D. E. (eds) Contesting the nation: religion, community, and the politics of democracy in India. pp. 1-23. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press
- Manchanda, R. (2002) 'Militarised Hindu nationalism and the mass media: Shaping a Hindutva public discourse', *South Asia: Journal of South Asian Studies* 25(3): 301–320. doi: 10.1080/00856400208723504.
- Marinov, R. (2020) 'Neoliberal Rationality and the Consumption of Biased News: Theorizing the Neoliberal Subjectivation of News Media Audiences', *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 37(1): 1–14. doi: 10.1080/15295036.2019.1658883.
- Nigam, S. (2020) 'Many Dimensions of Shaheen Bagh Movement in India', SSRN Electronic Journal, (2020). doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3543398.
- O'Leary, Z. (2017) The essential guide to doing your research project. London; Sage Publications Ltd
- Ohm, B. (2015) 'Organizing Popular Discourse with and against the Media: Notes on the Making of Narendra Modi and Recep Tayyip Erdoğan As Leaders-Without-Alternative', *Television & New Media* 16(4): 370–377. doi: 10.1177/1527476415575906.
- Palit, P. (2019) 'Modi and the Indian Diaspora', RSIS Commentary 28 November. Available at: https://dr.ntu.edu.sg/bitstream/10356/136663/2/CO19241.pdf.

- Pande, M. (2020) 'Shaheen Bagh and the spiralling hostility against "Godi Media", *Newslaundry* 26 January. Available at: https://www.newslaundry.com/2020/01/26/shaheen-bagh-and-the-spiralling-hostility-against-godi-media.
- Papacharissi, Z. and Oliveira, M. de F. (2008) 'News Frames Terrorism: A Comparative Analysis of Frames Employed in Terrorism Coverage in U.S. and U.K. Newspapers', *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 13(1): 52–74. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/437839002.
- Amish, J. and Tiwari, A. (2020) 'Truth about "sting" claiming Shaheen Bagh women were paid Rs 500: Alt News-Newslaundry joint investigation', *Altnews* 4 February. Available at: https://www.altnews.in/truth-about-sting-claiming-shaheen-bagh-women-were-paid-rs-500-alt-news-newslaundry-joint-investigation/.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002) *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications
- Poruthiyil, P. V. (2019) 'Big Business and Fascism: A Dangerous Collusion', *Journal of Business Ethics* pp. 1-15 doi: 10.1007/s10551-019-04259-9.
- Puranam, E. (2020) 'Why Shaheen Bagh protests are an important moment in India's history', *AlJazeera* 3 February. Available at: https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2020/2/3/why-shaheen-bagh-protests-are-an-important-moment-in-indias-history
- Rajagopal, A. (2001) Politics after television: religious nationalism and the reshaping of the Indian public. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press
- Rajagopal, A. (2016) 'The Rise of Hindu Populism in India's Public Sphere', *Current History*, 115(780): 123–129. doi: 10.1525/curh.2016.115.780.123.
- Rao, R. (2020) 'Nationalisms by, against and beyond the Indian State', *Radical Philosophy* 2020(2.07), pp. 17–26. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/8592059830.
- Rao, S. (2018) 'Making of Selfie Nationalism: Narendra Modi, the Paradigm Shift to Social Media Governance, and Crisis of Democracy', *Journal of Communication Inquiry* 42(2), pp. 166–183. doi: 10.1177/0196859917754053.
- Reddy, D. (2011) 'Hindutva as Praxis', Religion Compass 5(8), pp. 412-426. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-8171.2011.00288.x.
- Sahay, A. (2020) 'Journalism in India has placed itself on deputation to the government', *The Citizen* 27 June. Available at: https://www.thecitizen.in/index.php/en/NewsDetail/index/4/18960/Journalism-in-India--Has-Placed-Itself-On-Deputation-to-the-Government.
- Sahoo, A. K. (2018) 'Diaspora Identity and Communication' in Kim, Y. Y. (ed.) *The international encylopedia of intercultural communication*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons
- Sarkar, S. (1996) 'Indian Nationalism and the Politics of Hindutva' in Ludden, D. E. (eds) Contesting the nation: religion, community, and the politics of democracy in india. pp. 270-293. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press
- Schwalbe, C. B. (2006) 'Remembering Our Shared Past: Visually Framing the Iraq War on U.S. News Websites', *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 12(1): 264–289. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/440195575.
- Sinha, S. (2017) 'Fragile hegemony: Modi, social media, and competitive electoral populism in India', *International Journal of Communication* 11, pp. 4158–4180. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/7761841190.
- Sokefeld, M(2006) 'Mobilizing in Transnational Space: A Social Movement Approach to the Formation of Diaspora', *Global Networks* 6(3): 265–284. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0374.2006.00144.x.
- Srivastava, S. (2015) 'Modi-Masculinity: Media, Manhood, and "Traditions" in a Time of Consumerism', *Television & New Media* 16(4): 331–338. doi: 10.1177/1527476415575498.

- Swamy, P. (2018) 'Neo-Hindutva Affective Economies: Feelings of Pride and Offense among Surinamese Hindus in the Netherlands', *Contemporary South Asia* 26(4): 439–452. doi: 10.1080/09584935.2018.1545006.
- The Hindu (2019) 'Lok Sabha clears Citizenship Amendment Bill' 9 December. Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/parliament-proceedings-live-winter-session-december-9-2019/article30246691.ece
- The Hindu (2019) 'Don't let 'vested interests' divide society, says Modi' 16 December. Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/dont-let-vested-interests-divide-society-says-modi/article30323233.ece
- The Week (2020) 'Why did the European Union defer voting on its resolution against CAA?', 30 January. Available at: https://www.theweek.in/news/india/2020/01/30/why-did-the-european-union-defer-voting-on-its-resolution-against-caa.html
- The Quint (2019) "Dangerous For All": International Media on Citizenship Law & NRC', 23 December. Available at: https://www.thequint.com/news/india/international-media-on-india-caa-protests.
- Therwath, I. (2012) 'Cyber-hindutva: Hindu nationalism, the diaspora and the Web', *Social Science Information* 51(4): 551–577. doi: 10.1177/0539018412456782.
- Udupa, S. (2018) 'Enterprise Hindutva and social media in urban India.', *Contemporary South Asia* 26(4), pp. 453–467. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/7957154441.
- Venkataramakrishnan, R. (2020) 'The Political Fix: After a month of Citizenship Act protests in India, what have we learned?', *Scroll* 20 January. Available at: https://scroll.in/article/950351/the-political-fix-after-a-month-of-citizenship-act-protests-in-india-what-have-we-learned.
- Wagner, L. (2012) 'Feeling diasporic', *Tilburg Papers in Culture Studies* 21. Available at: https://www.narcis.nl/publication/RecordID/oai:cris.maastrichtuniversity.nl:publications %2F353ab2e3-95b8-4b85-a1d4-de2482e8959d.
- Webb, M. (2020) 'Digital Politics in the Diaspora: U.K. Aam Aadmi Party Supporters Online and Offline', *Television & New Media* 21(4): 420–433. doi: 10.1177/1527476419871672.
- Zavos, J. (2015) 'Digital media and networks of Hindu activism in the UK', *Culture and Religion* 16(1): 17-34. Available at: https://eur.on.worldcat.org/oclc/911204037.